#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT BAILEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SCO7-748

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 BILLMC@leoncountyfl.gov (850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of 34 volumes. Volumes I through XXX have sequentially numbered pages. References to these volumes will use the prefix **A**R.<sup>®</sup> Volumes I through XVIII contains the lower court clerk-s records including pleadings, orders and discovery materials. Volumes XIX and XX are transcripts of depositions. Volumes XXI through XXIII contains transcripts of motion hearings. Volumes XXIV through XXVII contain the transcripts of jury selection. Volume XXVIII is the transcript of the penalty phase. Volume XXIX is the transcript of the sentencing. Volumes XXII through XXIV containing only the transcript of the guilt phase of the trial begins page numbering anew for those volumes of transcript only. References to these

volumes will use the prefix AT.@ Documentary and other exhibits are provided in the record with an index. A copy of the sentencing order is attached to this brief as an appendix.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### Procedural Progress Of The Case

On April 15, 2005, a Bay County grand jury returned an indictment charging Robert J. Bailey with first degree murder and resisting an officer with violence for the shooting death of Kevin Scott Kight on March 27, 2005. (R1:58-59) Bailey pleaded not quilty. (R1:63) The State filed notice of intent to seek the death penalty on May 9, 2005. (R10: 1898) The Defense filed a motion to determine Bailey=s competency and a motion to determine if he was mentally retarded. (R13:2536-2539) Α hearing on those motions occurred on January 17, 2007. (R23:3699-3856) The court entered an order finding Bailey competent and not mentally retarded on January 23, 2007. (R16:3054-3059) A jury trial commenced on February 12, 2007. (R17:3315, 3330-3337, 3340-3346, 3350-3355, 3360-3388; R24-27:3858-4555; T31-34:1-483) On February 15, 2007, the jury returned a verdict finding Bailey guilty of both counts as charged. (R18:3388; T34:477-481) After a penalty phase, the jury recommended a death sentence with a vote of 11 to 1. (R18:3404; R28:4556-4762) Circuit Judge Michael Overstreet held a Spencer hearing on March 15, 2007, and adjudged Bailey guilty and imposed sentence on April 11, 2007. (R29:4764-4787; R18: 3500-3506; R30:4789-4819) The court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) Bailey had been convicted of a felony and was on parole at the time of the homicide and (2) the homicide was

committed to avoid a lawful arrest. Initially, the court rejected the statutory mental mitigating circumstances because Bailey=s mental impairment were so substantial or extreme as to satisfy the requirements for finding these circumstances. As mitigating circumstances, the Court found: (1) Bailey was 22 years old at the time of the offense; (2) Bailey, although not mentally retarded, has a low I.Q. with testing scores between 64 and 77; (3) Bailey has a history of mental problems since childhood; (4) Bailey spent time in a juvenile facility where he improved on Ritalin, and in prison, Bailey was diagnosed with bipolar disorder, substance abuse and anti-personality disorder and treated with various medications; (5) Bailey was impaired due to drug and alcohol use at the time of the homicide; (6) Bailey is the product of a broken home, suffered lifelong substance abuse problems, and had little financial assistance or employment history; (7)Bailey was a poor student having been diagnosed with ADHD at age eleven; (8) at the time of his arrest, Bailey expressed concern for Officer Kight=s well-being; (9) Bailey was respectful and cooperative during his court appearances. (R18:3481-3499) (App.)

Bailey filed his notice of appeal to this Court on April 13, 2007. (R18:3513)

#### Facts Presented At Trial

Officer Kevin Kight was a sergeant with the Panama City Beach police department on duty on March 27, 2005, Easter Sunday during Spring Break. (T31:36) Kight stopped a white Durango on Front Beach Road. (T31:82, 84) Officer Michael Rozier stopped to assist Kight as a back-up and walked up to the Durango with Kight. (T31:84) Kight was in the process of checking the driver=s information and told Rozier he could leave to attend to another traffic stop. (T31:88-92) While at the other stop location, Rozier heard Kight on the radio seeking a check for driver=s information, and since Rozier had a patrol car equipped with a computer, he performed a check for Kight. (T31:92-94) Rozier heard three rapid gunshots over the radio, and he immediately drove back to Kight=s location. (T31:95-95) Noting that Kight was on the ground with two other officers attending to him, Rozier followed the vehicle tracks leaving the scene which lead down a side road leading to the beach. (T31:95-98) Rozier found a white Durango parked near a condo. (T31:95-100)

Officer Tonya Goodwin saw Kight at a traffic stop around 10:00 p.m. (T31:37-38) At that point, Kight was in his vehicle and another officer was parked behind him. (T31:39-40) Goodwin continued to her patrol area and later checked on another officer at another stop. (T31:41-42) She heard three loud, sharp noises over the radio she thought might be gunshots, and the she heard the dispatch with a location. (T31:42) As she

turned back to Kight=s location with emergency lights and siren, a white vehicle passed at high speed. (T31:43) She found Kight on the ground and immediately began to render aid. (T31:43-44) Officers Buchanan and Taylor soon arrived and assisted until emergency medical personnel arrived. (T31:44, 48-51) Paramedics arrived and continued with CPR, but they never detected a pulse. (T32:122-124, 128-131) No signs of life were present and Kight was pronounced dead at the hospital. (T32:131-132)

On the following day, Dr. Charles Siebert performed an autopsy on Kight. (T34:386-405) Kight sustained two gunshot wounds to the upper chest just below the collar bone, and the wounds were about two inches apart. (T34:391-392, 404392) The bullets traveled through the weaker material of the upper left chest portion of the of the protective vest Kight wore. (T33:295-297; T34:392) A stippling pattern was found on the chin and upper neck consistent with the barrel of the gun being within 18 to 24 inches. (T34:393-394) The bullets traveled downward after entering the body meaning either that the shooter was in a much higher position or Kight was leaning forward. (T34:396-399) One bullet went through the middle part of the chest tearing the aorta and part of the heart. (T34:396) The bullet lodged in the vertebral column. (T34:397) A second bullet crossed the heart region striking the pulmonary artery, traveling through the liver and into a kidney. (T34:399-400)

Kight would have lost consciousness in less than one minute. (T34:402-403) During the autopsy, two bullets were collected. (T33:305-306, 317) Siebert stated that had the gunshots traveled straight from the entrance point near the clavicle the wounds would not have been fatal. (T34:404-405) Siebert concluded the gunshot wounds caused Kight=s death and the manner of death was homicide. (T34:403)

A Panama City Beach resident, Hillary Chaffer, tuned onto Front Beach Road from a shopping center. (T31:54-56) She and her sister noticed that the police had stopped a vehicle. (T31:56) The traffic was heavy and stop and go. (T31:58) As Chaffer drove her truck to a position parallel to the stopped vehicle, a White Dodge Durango, she observed that the Durango-s engine was still running and the police officer was back at his vehicle for information. (T31:56-60) The man driving the Durango looked pale, almost gray, and he started to sweat and looked scared. (T31:57) Chaffer said he appeared like he was about to throw up. (T31:65) He looked in his rearview mirror and started to drive away while the officer was not looking. (T31:58-61) The officer looked up, and the driver put on his brakes. (T31:58-61) As the officer again approached the Durango, he had his right hand on his gun and reached back with his left to get his handcuffs. (T31:58, 62) Chaffer then faced forward to drive, but heard two gunshots. (T31:58-61) She

looked back in time to see and hear a third gunshot, and she saw the driver of the Durango with a gun in his hand. (T31:58-62) These three shots were fast, one right after the other. (T31:66) The driver speed away on the grass beside the road, turned through a parking lot and down a side road. (T31:62) Chaffer knew that the side road was a dead end at the beach. (T31:63) She made a U-turn to get back to the fallen officer. (T31:63) Chaffer identified Robert Bailey as the driver of the Durango. (T31:64)

Jarrod Schalk was a high school student spending a spring break weekend at Panama City Beach with a friend=s family on March 27, 2005. (T31:66-67) His friend, Stacy Harrison, was driving the family minivan on Front Beach Road and Schalk was in the front passenger seat. (T31:67-68) The traffic was slow and they drove by a white Dodge Durango an officer had stopped. (T31:69) At the closest point, the minivan passed within five feet of the Durango. (T31:70) Schalk identified Robert Bailey as the person he saw in the driver-s seat of the Durango. (T31:70) The officer approached the Durango with his handcuffs in his hand. (T31:71) As the minivan was about parallel to the Durango, Schalk noted the driver of the Durango appeared upset, he reached across, pointed a gun, and fired. (T31:71) Schalk could see the flash from the barrel of the gun. (T31:71) He ducked down, and then heard two more shots and breaking glass.

(T31:71) The shots were fast, one after the other. (T31:78, 80-81) The breaking glass was from a bullet hitting the van striking the glass behind the front seats. (T31:71, 75) Schalk told Stacy to drive, and she drove off. (T31:71) Schalk looked in the rearview mirror and saw the officer down. (T31:71) They turned around and went back to the location where they spoke to other officers who had already arrived. (T31:71-72)

At the scene, officers later collected some items of evidence: two fired cartridge casings and a set of handcuffs from the ground; Kight=s protective vest; and from Kight=s citation holder, a citation for driving with revoked license and an identification card for Robert Bailey. (T31:45, 47, 52; T33: 242-243; T34:363-364) From the minivan, a bullet was recovered from door. (T33:247-252, 316) A search of the white Durango revealed cell phone, a vehicle rental contract, a fitness club card with Bailey=s name on it, and a fired cartridge casing. (T33:303-305)

Corey Lawson was a college student on break riding in pickup truck with friends driving along Front Beach Road around 10:30 p.m. on March 27, 2005. (T32:132-134) As the truck was stopped in heavy traffic, a man ran up to the road from the beach and jumped in the bed of the truck where Lawson and one of his friends were riding. (T32:135-136) The man appeared **A**shaky@, nervous, and afraid. (T32:136-137, 154) He covered himself with

a towel which was in the truck. (T32:157-158) Lawson asked the man what he wanted and he said he had just Apopped a cop.@ (T32:136) At first, Lawson did not know if the man was serious, but the man then leaned back and showed a gun he had hidden in his pants. (T32:136-137) He said he had to get off the road and out of the area, and he did not care where. (T32:136-138) Lawson concluded they had better do as the man asked or he might shoot someone. (T32:138-139) The man called someone on his cell phone and discussed a pick-up point. (T32:139) He began giving directions which Lawson the relayed to the driver of the truck. (T32:138-139) They eventually dropped the man off at a liquor store called Sweet Dreams. (T32:139) The man was in the truck with Lawson for forty minutes to an hour. (T32:145) During that time, the man said he was wanted and if he was caught, he would go to jail for life. (T32:142) The officer was trying to arrest him, and he shot him. (T32:142) Additionally, the man said he had a lot of money and he had rented a SUV for \$1000. (T32:144-145) As he left the truck, the man put \$100 in Lawson-s hand. (T32:144) Lawson and his friends found a police officer and reported the events including a description of the man. (T32:140-141, 145-148) The man had also said his name was ASaint.@ (T32:148) Lawson later identified Robert Bailey as the man. (T32:148)

Police officers arrested Robert Bailey on the morning of March 28, 2005, at the Sugar Sands Motel. (T33:255-260, 290-291) Bailey was behind а building. (T33:258, 290-291) Investigator Jim Jenkins saw Bailey either trying to pull something from his pants or shove something into his pants. (T33:258) Jenkins apprehended Bailey at gunpoint. (T33:258-260) Other officers assisted in the arrest and search of Bailey. (T33: 260, 290-291) A firearm was recovered from Bailey=s waistband and cartridges were in his pocket along with a wallet, a cell phone and keys. (T33:262-263, 292, 297-300) One key was to a Dodge Durango rental vehicle and a second key was for a motel room. (T33:298) Bailey asked Investigator Jenkins, more than once, about the condition of the officer. (T33:288)

Two of Bailey=s friends were found in a room at the Sugar Sands Motel **B** D=Tori Crawford and John Braz. (T32:206) Crawford testified for the State at trial. (T32:159) He stated that the three of them drove from Wisconsin to Florida to spend a few days at Spring Break. (T32:161-163) Crawford was friends with Braz and had recently met Bailey through his friendship with Braz. (T32:161) Braz used the nickname **A**LT® and Bailey was use the nickname **A**Saint.® (T32:160-161) Braz and Bailey picked up Crawford in Chicago where he was visiting a friend, and the three of them drove to Florida in a white Durango Bailey was driving. (T32: 161-163) Crawford said the Durango was a rental

Bailey=s grandfather rented for him. (T32:164) They left Chicago around 8:00 or 9:00 p.m. on Saturday, March 26, 2005, and drove through the night to Pensacola. (T32:164-169) The trip lasted about 12 hours, and the three of them drank some beer and smoked marijuana during the drive. (T32:164-169) Braz and Bailey switched off the driving task throughout the trip, although Bailey drove most of the time. (T32:168) In Pensacola, they ate at the Crab Shack around 1:30 p.m. (T32:170) Due to the hurricane damage in the area, they drove to Panama City Beach. (T32:169, 172) They found a room at the Sugar Sands Motel about 4:30 p.m. (T32:172-173) After check-in, the three, and two others they met at the motel, went to the Sweet Dreams bar. (T32:175-178) Bailey drove them in the Durango. (T32:178) Since Crawford was only 20, he was not immediately able to go inside. (T32:179) After about an hour, Bailey wanted to leave, and he and Crawford left the bar in the Durango. (T32:180-182) Crawford described Bailey as not sober but also not drunk. (T32:182)

As Bailey and Crawford drove down the road in heavy, slow traffic, they stopped to talk to some girls who were beside the road. (T32:183) While talking, Bailey did not realize the traffic had proceeded and he was blocking traffic behind him. (T32:184-186) An officer stopped them. (T32:186) Bailey seemed nervous and scared. (T32:186) Crawford said the officer would

probably just check his driver-s license and maybe give him a ticket. (T32:186-187) The officer approached and Bailey handed him a license. (T32:187) When the officer left, Bailey then explained to Crawford that he did not have a license and he was wanted for a parole violation. (T32:187-189) Bailey thought he would be arrested. (T32:188-189) Crawford continued to calm Bailey saying he might just get a ticket. (T32:190) He was shaking to the point he could not dial his cell phone and asked Crawford to call his girlfriend for him. (T32:221) Crawford heard Bailey tell his girlfriend that he had been pulled over and he thought the cop was going to arrest him. (T32: 192) He said if he tried to arrest him, he was going to Apop this cop@ and he wanted his girlfriend to come to Panama City to pick him up. (T32:193) Crawford was not sure if Bailey was serious, but he noted that Bailey=s face was red, he had tears in his eyes, he was shaking and seemed serious. (T32:192, 221) Crawford also knew Bailey had been drinking and had not slept. (T32:222) Bailey pulled a gun from under the seat and placed it under his right leg. (T32:193) Crawford again tried to calm Bailey down. (T32:193) Bailey said he was not going back to prison. (T32:194) Crawford was afraid and thought he had the choice to stay in the vehicle or to get out. (T32: 194) He looked in the rearview mirror and saw the officer was in his car looking down at something. (T32:194) Crawford opened the door, left the

vehicle and mingled in with a crowd of people along the roadway. (T32:194-195) Crawford walked and caught a ride back to the Sweet Dreams bar. (T32:195-200, 224) He heard sirens and a person with whom he caught a ride told him a police officer had been shot. (T32:199) When he walked into the bar, Crawford saw Bailey and Braz there in an argument. (T32:200)

The argument continued as the three went back to the motel room. (T32:200- 201) Bailey told Braz that he thought he shot the officer two or three times. (T32:201) He said, **A**I didn=t mean to do it. (T32:225) Bailey called his girlfriend on his cell phone. (T32:201) Crawford tried, without success, to call his father in Atlanta who used to be a police officer to get a ride. (T32:202) Braz and Bailey continued to argue and said they needed to get rid of the guns **B**- both Bailey and Braz had firearms. (T32:203) Braz threw his gun off he balcony into some water. (T32:204) Bailey emptied a box of bullets and placed them in his pocket.(T32:205) Bailey decided to leave. (T32:205) Braz and Crawford stayed and waited for the police, since they had done nothing wrong. (T32:205-206) The police arrived and placed Braz and Crawford in custody. (T32:206-208) Crawford gave a statement to the police. (T32:208-209)

Randy Squire worked as an investigator for the Corrections Corporation of America which operated the jail where Bailey was incarcerated pending trial. (T34:406-407) He was a former

police officer. (T34:406) Bailey was housed in a one person cell, and Squire had the responsibility of monitoring Bailey=s mail and telephone calls. (T34:407-408) He read at least 100 of Bailey=s letters and became familiar with his handwriting. (T34:409) Over defense objections, Squire identified the handwriting on a document from Bailey=s cell and the Court admitted the document in evidence. (T34:409-410) The document was a poem about being stopped by a police officer and running away. (T34:410-411) Squires testified that Bailey wrote a lot of poems while in the jail. (T34:412)

Joseph Hall, an FDLE firearms expert, compared the examined the firearm taken from Bailey and compared it to the fired cartridge casings and bullets recovered during the investigation. (T33:307-317) The firearm was a functioning Taurus 9mm semi-automatic pistol. (T33:292, 2967-300, 310-314) Hall concluded that the two fired cartridge casings found at the scene and the one found in the Durango were fired from the Taurus firearm. (T33:314-316) Additionally, Hall also found that the two bullet projectiles recovered at autopsy were fired from the Taurus firearm. (T33:317-318) The bullet projectile from inside the door of the minivan was too damaged for comparison. (T33:316-317) Penalty Phase

The State presented only one witness to testify to aggravating factors. (R28:4567-4572) Carl Safford, a probation

and parole agent, from Wisconsin who had supervised Bailey on parole upon a felony conviction testified. (R28:4567-4570) Bailey began supervision on October 20, 2004, after a felony conviction. (R28:4569-4570) His supervision was due to terminate on July 17, 2009. (R28:4572) Safford last saw Bailey on March 9, 2005, and obtained a warrant for his arrest on the same day. (R28:4571-4572) Bailey was under supervision at the time of the homicide. (R28:4567-4572)

The Defense presented one witness to testify in mitigation, Dr. Larry Kubiak, a psychologist. (R28:4573-4656) Dr. Kubiak had previously testified in the hearing to determine Bailey=s competency and mental retardation. (R23:3702-3780) He performed a psychological evaluation of Bailey on October 28, 2005. (R28:4574) This process included a review of prior evaluations and historical information. (R28:4574-4576) (Defense Exhibts 1 through 5) (R28:4577, 4580, 4581, 4585, 4587) Additionally, Kubiak conducted over four hours of testing and observations. (R28:4575)

Kubiak reviewed various records from Wisconsin. Records from the Department of Health and Human Services Behavioral Health Division of Milwaukee County provided records from 1993 and 1994 concerning Robert Bailey. (R28:4577-4580) (Defense Exhibit 1) Bailey was about twelve years old and was referred

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