IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT BAILEY,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC07-748

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTEENIH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Bailey's other case, <u>Brown</u> (IB 32-33), is inapplicable because it analyzed a jury override. As <u>Burns</u> put it when it rejected jury override cases there: "Jury override cases involve a wholly different legal principle and are thus distinguishable from the instant case." 699 So.2d at 649 n. 5 (collecting cases). Moreover, as discussed <u>supra</u>, the State disputes Bailey's conclusions concerning his youth and IQ, and Bailey's history and mental status were entitled only to "little weight."

In sum, Bailey's death sentence is proportionate.

ISSUE II: DID THE PROSECUTOR'S REFERENCES TO THE "COMMUNITY," "EVIL," AND TO JURORS VISUALIZING A DISTANCE CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR? (RESTATED) Bailey's Burden to Demonstrate Fundamental Error.

There was no contemporaneous objection to any of the prosecutor's comments that Issue II targets. Therefore, none of ISSUE II was preserved for appeal. See, e.g., Harrell v. State, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005)(three components for "proper preservation"; "purpose of this rule is to 'place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings'"); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 98-99, 98 n. 6 (Fla. 1996) (two claims of unconstitutionality of jury instructions pertaining to death penalty proceedings); U.S. v. Taylor, 54 F.3d 967, 972 (1st Cir. 1995)("raise-or-waive rule prevents sandbagging").

<u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1981), is a seminal case concerning preservation. It explained the sound and long-established underlying principle:

The requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based in practical necessity and basic fairness on the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early state of the proceedings.

Id. at 703.

Even constitutionally based appellate claims are generally subject to the principle of preservation. <u>See Hill v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1989)("constitutional argument grounded on due process and *Chambers* was not presented to the trial court ... procedurally bars"); Frengut v. Vanderpol,

927 So.2d 148, 153 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)("We do not address this [resjudicata] issue ... not preserved").

Therefore, as Bailey (IB 35) recognizes, he bears the appellate burden of demonstrating on appeal that the comments constitute fundamental error.

Crump v. State, 622 So. 2d 963, 972 (Fla. 1993), collected cases and explained the high burden that fundamental error imposes on Bailey:

Fundamental error goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and can be considered on appeal without objection. Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1978), overruled on other grounds, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). However, we have also recognized that wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S. Ct. 184, 74 L. Ed. 2d 149 (1982). The control of comments made to the jury is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 2067, 114 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1991); Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8.

See also, e.g., Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67, 71 (Fla. 1984) (unpreserved "comments had no significant impact on the jury's recommendation or the sentence imposed. They did not go to the foundation of the conviction or sentence").

Put another way, "For an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process."

Mordenti v. State, 630 So.2d 1080, 1084 (Fla. 1994), quoting State v.

Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993).

Therefore, "[t]he Appellate Court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly." Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970).

See also, e.g., Orme v. State, 896 So. 2d 725, 739 (Fla. 2005)(rejected a habeas claim that "prosecutor's comments were so egregious that they constituted fundamental error, and the issue should have been raised on appeal"; Orme has failed to demonstrate that prosecutor's comments error, much less fundamental error); Sochor v. State, 619 So.2d 285, 290 (Fla. 1993)("Fundamental error is error which goes to the foundation of the case").

As a threshold step towards establishing fundamental error, Bailey must first establish that the prosecutor's argument was improper. A prosecutor's argument is proper if it "review[s] the evidence and ... explicate[s] those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985).

"Merely arguing a conclusion that can be drawn from the evidence is permissible fair comment." Mann v. State, 603 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1992).

Overview and Repeated Instructions and Comments about the Jury's Proper Role.

Bailey (IB 35) complains about three unpreserved prosecution arguments during the trial, claiming that the "prosecutor improperly positioned himself as a member of the jurors' community and that he represented the community's best interest"; the prosecutor "equated Bailey's coming into the community as evil entering the community"; and, "the prosecutor improperly told the jury to place themselves in the victim's position when facing the defendant at the time of the shooting." Bailey (IB 36-38) then quotes excerpts from the trial as purported support for his claim of fundamental error.

Bailey has failed to meet his burden of demonstrating fundamental error. Indeed, concerning Bailey's Golden Rule claim, defense counsel himself harnessed the same demonstration targeted on appeal.

The prosecutor did not say anything like "find him guilty because I charged him" or "find him guilty because you can trust my judgment." The prosecutor's reference to Bailey's face of "evil" did nothing to inflame jurors beyond the facts of Bailey's murder of Sgt. Kight and the evidence of a witness who described Bailey as "look[ing] really mean, really mad and upset." (XXXI 71). The prosecutor argued nothing like "feel the victim's pain."

Instead of Bailey's depiction of a jury easily distracted from its proper role, the prosecutor himself, shortly after making the comment about his position, put his role in proper context of the role of the jury: "... under our system the jury that listens to a case and determines guilt or innocence also is asked to go on and consider what the punishment should be." (XXIV 3910) He explained that the State bears the burden of proving aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt. (XXIV 3911) The State's burden was repeatedly hammered for the jury. (See, e.g., "under our law the defendant sits here right now innocent," XXIV 3928; "set aside any personal biases, opinions, feelings that you may have ...," XXVII 4393; "Defendant ... clothed with the presumption of innocence," XXVII 4461; "if ... you ... were to find that the State has not removed all reasonable doubt," XXVII 4466; "whether Mr. Meadows and Mr. Graham on behalf of the State presented enough evidence to convince you beyond a reasonable doubt," XXVII 4501; "render

your verdict based solely on the evidence ...," XXVII 4551; "We want you here, as you promised, with a clean slate, if you will, ready to, first, afford the Defendant the presumption of innocence to which he is entitled," XXVII 4551). Thus, the jury was repeatedly reminded that the prosecutor's statements are not evidence. (See, e.g., XXXIV 423; XXVIII 4733)

Accordingly, only moments prior to the prosecutor's opening statement, the trial judge instructed the jury in accord with standard instructions:

Now, it is your solemn responsibility to determine if the state has proved its accusations beyond a reasonable doubt against Mr. Bailey. Your verdict must be based solely on the evidence or lack of evidence and the instructions on the law that I provide you. The indictment, which is the charging instrument in this case, is not evidence and it is not to be considered by you as any proof of guilt. It is my responsibility as the judge to decide which laws apply to this case and then to explain those laws to you. It is your responsibility, as jurors, to decide what the facts of the case may be and then to apply the law that I give you to those facts. Thus, the province of the jury and the province of the court are well defined, our responsibilities do not overlap. And this is one of the fundamental principles of our system of justice.

*** what the lawyers say during the opening statements is not evidence and it is not to be considered as such.

(XXXI 14-15)

Especially given these repeated admonitions, Bailey has substantially less faith in the jury to follow the law than the law does. See Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997)("judge properly instructed the jury that closing argument should not be considered as evidence in the case or as the instruction on the law. He went on to instruct the jury that the only aggravating factors it was allowed to consider were those specifically

defined by him; the judge also gave the correct instruction on mitigation").

Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982), is instructive. There, the defendant complained on appeal about several prosecutorial arguments, including improperly using the defendant's statements, plus "1) allegations of other criminal acts (rape); 2) 'vituperative' characterization (referring to Breedlove as an animal); 3) appeal to community prejudice (violence in Dade County)." In Breedlove, the prosecutor argued in the guilt-phase a fact not in evidence, that is, "He went prowling through the house to find that woman." In Breedlove, the "prosecutor characterized the killing as a "savage and brutal and vicious and animalistic attack." In Breedlove, the prosecutor argued "When we walk the streets we take our chances" and "One place in the world where we ought to be free from this kind of violence, this kind of crime, is in our own home." In Breedlove, the defense counsel moved for a mistrial, but the claims on appeal were insufficient to warrant reversal. Here, the claims were unpreserved and insufficient to warrant reversal. Cf. Jones v. State, 949 So. 2d 1021, 1031-33 (Fla. 2006)(IAC claims concerning multiple prosecutor arguments).

In light of the nature of the prosecutor's comments, the defense counsel's use of one of them, the multiple jury instructions maintaining the jury's correct focus, <u>Breedlove</u>'s guidance, as well as the compelling case against Bailey (summarized in the Facts <u>supra</u>), Bailey has failed to meet his burden of demonstrating fundamental error. <u>See also Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 130, 132-133 (Fla. 1985)(prosecutor argument included,

for example, "inviting the jury to imagine the victim's final pain, terror and defenselessness," "prosecutor urged the jury to consider the message its verdict would send to the community at large"; held "the misconduct here to be so outrageous as to taint the validity of the jury's recommendation in light of the evidence of aggravation presented"); Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361, 1365 (Fla. 1994)("prosecutor improperly referred to Dr. Berland as a 'hired gun' in his closing argument"; "prosecutor improperly argued that Christian was killed to eliminate a witness to Suzanne Henry's murder"; held not fundamental error); Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629, 641 (Fla. 2003)("Having reviewed the prosecutor's entire closing argument in light of the unobjected-to comments, none of the comments, individually or collectively, rose to the level of fundamental error. Furthermore, we conclude that the unobjected-to comments, when viewed in conjunction with the objected-to comments, did not deprive Conahan of a fair penalty phase hearing").

Nevertheless, the State now also addresses each sub-claim of this Issue.

The Prosecutor's References to Community.

Bailey (IB 35) summarizes this claim by arguing that the "prosecutor improperly positioned himself as a member of the jurors' community and that he represented the community's best interest." Bailey has failed to meet his appellate burdens.

Bailey does not argue that State Attorney Steve Meadows misrepresented a fact. To the contrary, when Mr. Meadows told some potential jurors that

he is "representing the community" (XXIV 3909), he was accurate. He was the constitutionally empowered prosecutorial representative of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit. See, e.g., Art. 5 § 17, Fla. Const. ("state attorney shall be the prosecuting officer of all trial courts in that circuit"). Meadows' statement to the jury told the jurors what they already knew: He was, in fact, their elected State Attorney.

The prosecutor's use of "we" and "our" does not implicate any fundamental right. Indeed, the standard jury instruction references "we":

"For two centuries we have lived by the constitution and the law. No juror has the right to violate rules we all share." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.)

3.13 (emphases added).

In <u>Cox v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 705, 718-19 (Fla. 2002)("prosecutorial comments noted by the appellant do not, either individually or cumulatively, amount to fundamental error"), the appellant also claimed that the prosecutor improperly argued to the jury: "I stand before you again today on behalf of the decent law-abiding people of this community and this state, whom I represent." Cox rejected the claim:

Here, the State Attorney only stated whom he represented—albeit in a somewhat grandiose manner. He certainly did not make any 'message to the community' argument.

Moreover, there, even though another prosecution argument to the jury misstated the law, "the trial court did not repeat the prosecutor's misstatements of the law during its instruction of the jury--indeed, the trial court's instructions properly informed the jury of its role under Florida law. Thus, the prosecutorial misrepresentation of the law was

harmless error, and certainly does not constitute fundamental error. ***" 819 So.2d at 717-718. <u>A fortiori</u>, here the prosecutor did not misstate the law and the jury was repeatedly reminded of the prosecutor's burdens versus the jury's role. There was no fundamental error.

In <u>Breedlove</u>, the defendant claimed on appeal about several prosecutorial arguments, including "3) appeal to community prejudice (violence in Dade County)." The "prosecutor said: 'When we walk the streets we take our chances.' In response to an objection the [trial] court said: 'Stay on the evidence in this case.' The prosecutor then said: "One place in the world where we ought to be free from this kind of violence, this kind of crime, is in our own home.' The court overruled an objection to this remark. These comments appear to reflect common knowledge and are probably the sentiments of a large number of people. They do not appear to be out of place." Similarly, here the prosecutor's references to community and his role reflected common knowledge; they were not "out of place."

Accordingly, <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 855 So. 2d 597, 610 (Fla. 2003), "determine[d] that Fennie has failed to establish that the prosecutor's comments run afoul of caselaw precluding the State from encouraging jurors to 'do their duty' for the community or 'send a message' through their sentencing decision." <u>Fennie</u> cited to <u>Cox</u> and reasoned that "[w]e have rejected arguments pertaining to comments similar to those which Fennie

characterizes as objectionable." $\underline{\text{Fennie}}$ concluded that the defendant had not shown fundamental error. 21

State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031, 1034 (Fla. 1980), involved several remarks from the prosecutor. In one of them, the prosecutor's argument was much more pointed regarding representing the community: "I say to you that people who are not here are also from the community and the State represents those people, the community itself, and that community asks of you justice in this case. They ask you to return a verdict that speaks the truth; a verdict in this case that represents justice." Cumbie held, in part, while not isolating the community portion: "Initially, we find that the improper prosecutorial comment in this case did not constitute fundamental error and could have been waived by Cumbie's failure to object and to request a mistrial."

"Evil."

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